MSc (Development Management) Programme TU874 Project

The necessity	of being r	moved in d	developmen	t management
THE HECCISTE	, or seminar	IIOVCA III C	ac v c lopilich	t illaliagellielt

Giulia Carozzi October 2018

(E5702278)

Word count: 10.002

Executive Summary

This is the final report on a study which aimed at investigating development managers' necessity of being moved by the lives, stories and experiences of those "for whom development is sought" (Gulrajani, 2010, p. 143). It has expected benefits for the stakeholders with whom the author collaborated, for the wider development management (DM) discipline and for the author herself.

The context from which the problem definition emerged is defined within the debate between reformists and "contemporary radicals" (Copestake and Williams, 2014, p. 140). The author takes a clear position with the latter; she then specifies her decision of writing the report in the first singular person as a matter of personal responsibility.

Moving especially from Gulrajani's (2010) conception of romantic DM and Abbott's (2007) account of her Ph.D research, an analysis of three key issues emerged from the context, is made. The significance of political knowledge as a form of intervention, the relevance of personal identities, and of role of empathy, are presented as key arguments in relation to *the necessity of being moved*.

A series of research questions are introduced to frame the overall investigation. The methodology used to investigate the defined problem was of qualitative type, a challenging outcome of difficult ethical questioning in finding a balance between personal integrity and effectiveness (Chataway and Thomas, 2007). Semi-structured interviews were carried out with practitioners working for an Italian NGO; the answers emerged during the interviews were then connected with secondary sources addressing each research question.

The findings showed that development managers recognised the relevance of *being moved* by the lives of *others*, and such movement had an impact on their epistemology and ontology. The limitations of this study are then underlined together with a series of implications and recommendations rising from this research.

Table of Contents

A٥	cknowledgements	4
1.	Aims and Objectives	5
2.	Introduction and Background	6
	2.1 Development management context	6
	2.2 Taking side, personal responsibilities and the use of "I"	7
	2.3 Issues rising from the context	8
	2.4 Introducing the NGO	9
3.	Problem definition	10
	3.1 The problem definition	10
	3.2 Intervening on the behalf of others: political knowledge through intertwinement	10
	3.3. Leaving the advantage point: reciprocities based on shared identities	12
	3.4 Reducing the physical and psychological space: empathy	12
	3.5 Research questions	15
4.	Methodology and Research Design	16
	4.1 Methodology	16
	4.2 Research design and tools	16
	4.3 Data collection	17
	4.4 Ethical considerations	18
	My living contradictions	18
	Principled investigation and validity	19
5.	Analysis and findings	21
	5.1 Key informants	21
	5.2 Reliability	21
	5.3 Analysis of the findings	22
6.	Conclusions, implications, recommendations	29
	6.1 Conclusions	29
	6.2 Limitations	31
	6.3 Implications	32
	6.4 Recommendations	33
Re	eferences	35
ΑĮ	ppendices	40
	Appendix1 Questionnaire for semi-structured interviews	40
	Appendix 2 Grid of the key authors for secondary data	40

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank all the people that have supported me over the past six months. Without them this project wouldn't have been possible.

I thank Prof. Moira Laidlaw that has been following with immense patience and care my educational development. She has enabled not only my learning but also my growth as an individual. She has helped me to "see what is *yet to be seen*" (Yamamoto, 1986, p. 186), striking a balance between accompanying me in my personal exploration (Chambers, 2014, p. 130) and leaving me space in such a travel.

I thank the organisation with whom I have collaborated and especially the three practitioners that have been willing to undertake my interviews. I am very grateful to them for having dedicated me time and energy in an extremely hot Italian summer.

I am grateful to all the members of the Living Theory Research Support Group that with patience listened to my research struggles. By sharing with them my anxieties and difficulties I felt less lonely. A particular thank is for Jack Whitehead who has proof read my draft.

I wish to thank my family: my children, Aidan and Ingrid, for having tolerated a student-mum that wasn't always available; my husband, Matthew, who has pushed me to attend this MSc three years ago and with whom I shared endless conversations in the evening about my studies; my mum for her warm, welcoming support and encouragement.

Finally, from the bottom of my heart, I am eternally in debt to Charles and Pendo. In the year and half spent with them in Mwanza (Tanzania), they showed me the immense possibilities of "universal reciprocities" based on small, daily gestures. I want to thank particularly Pendo who accompanied me, through memories, in this project. Without her, this dissertation wouldn't have existed: she gave concrete meanings to the even most abstract concepts. She is the essence of this dissertation and this work is for her.

1. Aims and Objectives

This project, in which development management (DM) is considered as a "field of relationship(s)" (Quarles Van Ufford and Giri, 2003, p. 253), **aims** at investigating development managers' necessity of being moved by the lives, stories and experiences "of those for whom development is sought" (Gulrajani, 2010, p. 143). It seeks to challenge, within the possibilities of its small scale, dominant manageriaistic approaches applied to DM (Gulrajani, 2010; Mowles, 2010a) and to show what might rise by creating relationships based on "interpersonal understanding" (Dadds, 2008, p. 280) among significant human beings (Yamamoto, 1988).

The **objectives of this project** are to:

- Look at ways through which might be possible to establish a subjective engagement
 (Abbott, 2007) among practitioners and beneficiaries.
- Establish links between practice and theory, bringing light on alternative DM theories (Gulrajani 2010; Mowles, 2010a).
- Look at what being moved might lead to.

This project has **expected outcomes** at different levels:

- On a personal level, I hope to satisfy "the human being in me" (Laidlaw, 2004, p. 3) by
 researching something I deeply care about. This project might also help me to develop a
 sharper focus for future studies.
- At **stakeholder level**, this project might be useful to those people/organisations with an interest in empathy, values and subjective relationships in DM. The organisation with whom I have collaborated has requested a copy of this work for the above reasons. The Living Theory Research Support Group, of which I am part, has asked to share my findings as some of the subjects investigated are linked to their researched areas.
- The DM discipline might benefit from this project as it tries to bridge together theory and practice, trying to make the case for a deeper appreciation of the role played by subjective relationships and empathy in DM (OU, 2009), fields which are still scarcely investigated (Jones and Ficklin, 2012).

2. Introduction and Background

This section aims at clarifying the theoretical DM context from which this project arose, the decision of writing the report in the first singular person, and the issues emerged from the context which led to the problem definition. In the last part of this section, I introduce the NGO with whom I collaborated.

2.1 Development management context

Keeping in mind that the issue to be investigated is the *necessity of being moved in DM*, this section should be read not only as the theoretical context in which this project is positioned, but also as the source from which the concept of *necessity* arose. *Necessity* is used here acknowledging its strong meaning: it implies something urgent, indispensable (Collins English Dictionary, 2000). This urgency, informed heavily by my personal experiences and values (love, respect and equality), was originated by a feeling of outrage (Pinder, 2017) towards managerialistic approaches applied to DM, in which efficiency and impartiality replace "civic virtues, moral purposes and public service sentiment" (Gularajani, 2011, p. 205). In <u>Section3</u> the concept of *necessity* is linked with the one of *movement*.

The academic literature on DM has witnessed a "longstanding tendency" towards a "schism between reformists and 'contemporary radicals'" (Copestake and Williams, 2014, p. 140). The first promote a vision of change managed through "planned, rational, technical and controlled processes" (Copestake and Williams, 2012, p. 140). The second call for alternative theories of management (Mowles, 2010a) criticising how reformists borrow extensively from system theories and apply mangerialistic approaches to the field of development (Mowles, 2010a). By managerialism they intend an "ideology inspired by Enlightenment rational science and a practice that believes in the ability to achieve organisational success by borrowing from the corporate sector" (Gulrajani, 2010, p. 139).

Contemporary radicals distance themselves from rational science, focusing on the relevance of the contextual, the local and the particular (Mowles, 2010a). They stress the importance of

"imagination, sentiment and creativity" (Gulrajani, 2010, p.140) over "rationality, effectiveness" (Mowles, 2010a, p. 152), and the "calculus of utility" (Gulrajani, 2010, p. 140).

Two different visions of the development manger's role and epistemology emerge from such a debate. Reformist managers "stand separately from the phenomena; they analyse and identify leavers, 'drivers of change', which they can then pull to affect change as a whole" (Mowles, 2010a, p. 153). The epistemology framing these approaches sees the primacy of "rationality, validity, truth and objectivity" (Townley, 2008, in Gulrajani, 2010, p. 140). An objective, rational, neutral practitioner places himself/herself on a "unique advantage point" (Mowles, 2010a, p. 153) from where he/she makes "adjustment to the system" (Mowles, 2010a, p. 153), trying to "overcome the messy and imperfect present" (Mowles, 2010a, p. 153).

Contemporary radicals aim at being reflective practitioners, interrogating the "meaning of all the doing" (Mowles, 2010a, p157), embracing the complexities of DM as made by individuals constantly interacting; from such, often unpredictable interaction, change emerges (Mowles, 2010a). Instead of objectively measuring an oversimplified reality (Mowles, 2010a), considering possible to find "the truth of practice" (Everitt, 1996, p. 176), contemporary radicals see facts as products of social processes in which values and personal beliefs are central in constructing subjective realities (Everitt, 1996). Imagination, sentiment, creativity (Gulrajiani, 2010), self-reflection, attention to the contextual, the local and the particular (Mowles, 2010a) inform a DM practice which is an act of "political steering rather than planned social engineering" (Gulrajani, 2010, p.143). Development mangers take explicit sides (Becker, 1967), "managing an intervention on behalf of the poor and powerless against other powerful interests" (Thomas, 1996, p. 108).

2.2 Taking side, personal responsibilities and the use of "I"

Following Pinder's advice on recognising which personal values, perspectives and world views shape the understanding of *good DM* (Pinder, 2015a), I have engaged in a "small personal exploration" (Chambers, 2014, p. 130) in which "imagination, commitment, critical awareness, courage, creativity and above all vision" (Chambers, 2014, p. 130) led the way to find my personal side within the above debate.

Given my personal values, having been immensely enriched by been "intertwined in the lives of others" (Abbott, in OU, 2015), I do take side in the above debate. I place myself in favour of a development practice that celebrates the role of "imagination, creativity and emotion" (Gulrajani, 2010, p. 141), in which "the physical and psychological space between developers and those for whom development is sought is reduced" (Gulrajani, 2010, p. 143).

Within my research, I have used throughout the first singular person. In this, I was influenced by DM authors that make explicit use of their "Is": Chambers (2017), Pinder (2015b) and Abbott (2007).

Within this project, I've recognised the importance and the centrality of my "relational I", engaged in "infinite conversation" (Whitehead, 2015, p. 248) with myself, others and literature, in shaping and developing my enquiry as a way of giving meaning and purpose to my research and more broadly to my learning (Whitehead, 2015). Through its use, I wish to underline my "personal sense of responsibility within development as an opportunity for learning, self-development and self-transformation" (Quarles Van Ufford and Giri, 2003, p. 254), aiming towards a romantic DM conception (Gulrajaini, 2010).

In the process of researching and writing, developing my "personal knowledge" (Polanyi, 1962, p. 344), I'm "claiming originality with a universal intent" (Polanyi, 1962, p. 344), as an individual committed to learning in the name of "a shared human possibility" (Quarles Van Offord and Giri, 2003, p. 254). This process is informed and shaped by my "values, principles and passions" (Chambers, 2017, p. 162); the latter three are a "powerful combination and a potent force for driving revolutionary change" (Chambers, 2017, p. 162). By making explicit use of my "I", I'm trying to embrace a desire to fulfil my personal responsibilities (Quarles Van Offord and Giri, 2003) towards *good change* (Chambers, 2005).

2.3 Issues rising from the context

Having clarified my positionality within the "the schism" (Copestake and Williams, 2014, p. 140), a series of reflections led me towards the problem definition. The following points aim at making explicit the process that guided me towards the researched issue.

- For Thomas DM "implies managing an intervention on behalf of the poor and powerless against other powerful interests" (1996, p. 108). Thomas (1996) focuses on the rights that development managers might have or not to intervene on the behalf of the poor and powerless, however he doesn't bring light on how it might be possible to intervene on their behalf.
- Mowles (2010a) criticises practitioners who do not leave their "advantage point" (p.
 153). What might the consequences be of leaving it?
- Gularajani, in her definition of romantic DM, calls for a reduction of the "physical and psychological space between developers and those for whom development is sought" (2010, p. 143). In which ways such space might be reduced? What might the implication of this "reduction" be?

2.4 Introducing the NGO

Through the past six months I've collaborated with practitioners working for an NGO based in North-West Italy: its anonymity is ensured (Woodhouse, 2007). The NGO works with street people and migrants: it was established as a centre to contrast the "distress and marginalisation, in its diverse forms, afflicting the social reality of the local area" (protected source¹). I decided to collaborate with NGO X mainly because I was interested in the organisation's field of work which, given the NOGO's aims, I thought could bring light on the researched issues.

¹ Source protected to ensure the NGO's anonymity as requested.

3. Problem definition

This section aims at clarifying how and why the necessity of being moved in DM was identified as the main problem definition. The three issues emerged from the analysis of the DM context (Section 2.3) have guided the formulation of the problem definition. In the last part of this section, I present the research questions that led the investigation of the chosen problem.

3.1 The problem definition

The necessity of being moved within DM is the problem definition around which this project was constructed. Not leaving the "advantage point" (Mowles, 2010a, p. 153) means that development managers are not prepared to expose themselves (their "Is") to the life of others, therefore not recognising that the beginning of good change (Chambers, 2005) is the relation among at least two significant individuals (Buber, in Yaron, 1993). As illustrated below, it is possible to carry out a practice in which development managers might make use of their own inherently human resources rather than resorting to principles borrowed from business logic (Gulrajani, 2011). Being moved towards the other and by the other is stressed here to be of fundamental, urgent and necessary importance to affirm a development practice as a "shared responsibility" towards better "human possibilities", in which "the self and the other are brought together" (Quarles Van Ufford and Giri, 2003, p. 253-4). In that movement the potentials of practitioners' humanity are enclosed; this might lead to "knowing better for doing better" (Chambers, 2017, p. 150).

3.2 Intervening on the behalf of others: political knowledge through intertwinement

<u>Section2</u> underlined how alternative theories of management (Gulrajani, 2010; Mowles, 2010), recognise the importance of seeing DM as a political process and how Thomas (1996), despite defining what he intends as political DM, doesn't clarify in which ways/how might be possible to act on *the behalf* of somebody else. Abbott talking about her experience as a Ph.D researcher, conducting a fieldwork in the slums of Mumbai, specifies her vision of a political DM practice:

Development practitioners are constantly involved in generating development knowledge and that knowledge is political as it reflects the interest of a particular group.

(Abbott, in OU, 2015)

The *political knowledge* of which Abbott talks about (in OU, 2015) emerged from a process of "interaction and discovery" (Copestake and Williams, 2014, p. 149) with the female meal-makers, central topic of her research. Investigation and research, knowledge production broadly, can be considered forms of intervention in themselves (Thomas, 2007). On the one hand, *knowing better* informs *better actions* (Chambers, 2017) and, on the other, the production of political knowledge (Abbott in OU, 2015), through the research/investigation process, might affect directly the situation (Thomas, 2007).

In either case, intervening "on the behalf of the poor and powerless" (Thomas, 1996, p. 108), creating a political knowledge and therefore intervening, is for Abbott possible if practitioners are "entwined" (in OU, 2015) in the life of the people they work with and for, through engaging subjectively and personally with them, not treating them as distant objects (Abbott, 2007). Far from being an "individual mechanical atom" (Gulrajani, 2010, p.140) who "stands separately from the phenomena" analysed (Mowles, 2010a, p. 153), Abbott engaged in a research that for Pinder was "sensed as well as thought" (in OU, 2015). She (Abbott, 2007) felt intertwined in the lives of those she researched. Such intertwinement, source of a political knowledge production, is possible if a relationship, based on share identities, is created among practitioners and "those for whom development is sought" (Gulrajani, 2010, p. 143).

If development managers, as in Abbott's case (2007), acknowledge their identities and work with those, then "a distant, impersonal auditing and controlling" (Chambers, 2017, p. 169) rapport can be abandoned in the name of a "trusting, personal and empowering" relationship (Chambers, 2017, p. 169). The *I* (the self) of the development manager can be made explicit, together with the values, passions and experiences forming it (Chambers, 2017). An enriched, expanded *I*, who knows better because s/he has subjectively engaged with the *other*, that has experienced human feelings and ethical questioning (Abbott in OU, 2015), is then the *I* resulting from a practice based on establishing subjective relationships.

3.3. Leaving the advantage point: reciprocities based on shared identities

Development managers have multiple identities as gender, race, economic position, political sympathies (Chouinard, 2014): these shape how the development practice is framed and carried out. Abbott worked consciously with these multiple identities (Chouinard, 2014). She privileged one over her many others, the one of being a mother (Abbott, 2007). Establishing a relationship with the female meal-makers was possible for Abbott (2007) because she engaged personally and subjectively with them, sharing experiences as a woman, as a carer of a child. In deciding to work with one of her many identities, she consciously took sides (Becker, 1967): she stood with the meal-makers (Abbott, 2007).

Abbott, however, throughout her field research, remained fully aware of her other identities: a wealthy-educated woman (Abbott, 2007). She didn't pretend to describe objectively the mealmakers' poverty, but she made explicit that her research was a personal interpretation of it as an outsider (Abbott, 2007). Abbott (2007) gave a personal account of those women's conditions, having come to the conclusion that development mangers should never leave aside their human feelings and that engaging subjectively is a way to open up development.

Abbott's experience (2007) is an enlightening example of considering development as a "field of relationships" (Quarles Van Ufford and Giri, 2003, p. 253). Leaving "the advantage point" (Mowles, 2010a, p. 153) means creating and establishing "interconnected reciprocities" (Chambers, 2017, p. 152) in which "top-town separations *us-them* are abandoned" (Chambers, 2017, p.152). This is possible if development mangers are prepared to "relate to others and be human, not robotic" (Chambers, 2017, p. 155), acknowledging that "we can all gain from interconnected reciprocities" (Chambers, 2017 p. 152) based on share identities.

3.4 Reducing the physical and psychological space: empathy

For Chambers "change starts with individual people" (Chambers, 2017, p. 165) and through a dialogical relationship "individual people" can be "acknowledged and addressed as particular beings" (Buber in Yaron, 1993, p.2). "Interconnected reciprocities" (Chambers, 2017, p. 152), therefore, can occupy a central position in the process leading to change: "in the beginning is

relation" (Buber in Yaron, 1993, p. 1). Central in this dialogical relationship is for Yamamoto the fact that a person throughout his/her life "remains in need of recognition and appreciation by a significant other (or others), so as to affirm oneself as a human being" (1988, p. 184). At the heart of creating reciprocities between significant human beings for Segal is the recognition that "we may eat different types of food, but we all eat" (2011, p. 274). "We all eat" becomes for Segal (2011, p. 274) the prerequisite for establishing an understanding of a significant other based on empathy.

Empathy might be a way through which practitioners can access those "experiential realities" of which writes Gulrajani (2010, p. 143) advocating for a romantic, "human development" practice (Copestake and Williams, 2014, p. 133), in which development managers become "connected knowers" (Belenkey, in Dadds, 2008, p. 280). "Opening our heart and mind to absorbing their (other's) reality in to our own understanding" (Dadds, 2007, p. 280) can then be a way to reduce the "physical and psychological space among practitioners and those for whom development is sought" (Gulrajani, 2010, p. 143). Empathy "allows an understanding of each other's subjective world" (Jordan, 1997, p. 144), "through perceiving and experiencing others' life situation" (Segal, 2011, p. 266). Resulting from this, it's "an insight into structural inequalities and disparities" (Segal, 2011, p. 267). In this "insight" a subject-subject rapport is formed based on the vision that a "human community" (Jordan, 1997, p. 143) is possible if the boundaries between the self and the other are dropped (Jordan, 1997).

For Thomas "DM is about **using resources** for influencing social processes" (1996, p. 102). Given the above analysis², I wondered if empathy could be considered as a human resource for enabling alternative DM practices (Mowels, 2010; Gurajani, 2010). This consideration led me into researching to what extent empathy is recognised as playing a role in DM theory and practice. Overall not a lot of material was found relating directly to the use of empathy within the development sector (Jones and Ficklin, 2012). However, different visions emerged through engaging with the relevant, available, literature on the subject (O'Laughlin, 2007).

Pedwell (2016) looks at the hidden risks of empathy becoming another dominant discourse within international development. A privileged subject can impose, through his/her powerful position, an

² Please note that the in the above paragraph the authors (Segal, 2011; Dadds, 2008; Jordan, 1997) write on empathy in journals dedicated to psychology and education.

interpretation of the life of the less privileged one, creating a sharp division top-down relation subject-object (Pedwell, 2016). This risk is avoidable if an intimacy among equals is created through time- space "intertwinement" (Pedwell, 2016, p. 24), recognising that making room for such intimacy might require conflict and negotiation (Pedwell, 2016).

Given the risks that Pedwell (2016) recognises in the uses of empathy within development, especially the one of power-over (Lukes, 2005), it seems that she mainly had in mind practitioners who might use empathy without living their "advantage point" (Mowles, 2010a, p. 153), using it as another managerialistic tool (Mowles, 2010a). She prefers in her paper the term "intertwinement" (Pedwell, 2016, p. 25) which resonate more closely with what in this chapter, so far, was defined as "empathy". Empathy in fact, if used within a relationship where trust occupies a central position, can lead towards empowerment and not attitudes of power-over (Jordan, 1997); it enables joint intentions towards change (Jordan, 1997).

Abbott (2007) showed the potentials for Pedwell's (2016) time-space "intertwinement". In the field research, Abbott (2007) realised that she slowly created a relationship with the meal-makers, through participating to their activities, exposing herself to their questions. Having empathised with the meal-makers as a mother and as a woman, she experienced feelings of wonder, anger and distress for these women's conditions (Abbott, 2007): by being moved in her feelings she produced a political knowledge with potentials for *change*.

Of the potentials of empathy within the development arena writes Griffiths (in CEIA, n.d.): "empathy is connecting with the core of the humanity... the defining common ingredient which unites all of us, way beyond culture, colour and ideology". Looking at this definition, it could be inferred that empathy might be one of the fundamental resources (Thomas, 1996) to establish "interconnected reciprocities" (Chambers, 2017, p. 152), where "top-town separations *us-them*" are abandoned in the name of a movement towards "all of us equally together" (Chambers, 2017, p. 152).

However, a communication analyst working for the World Bank, warns practitioners from the use of empathy:

It can lead to emotional fatigue and might leads us to seek revenge or justice in the name of the victims. (...) Empathy is also biased; it connects us to particular individuals but is insensitive to statistical data. (...) We will be fairer and more moral if we surrender empathy. Without empathy

we can rethink humanitarian aid choosing a rational analysis of moral duty and likely consequences.

(Bauer, 2016)

Empathy is for Bauer (2016), a far too political resource to be used within a vision of DM that has to be an objective, standardised, statistics-friendly practice that overcomes complexities. It's a resource that might make development managers leave their objective "advantage points" (Mowles, 2010a, p. 153) and become connected, biased, knowers through the use of their particular *Is*.

3.5 Research questions

- In which ways/how is it possible to create a subjective engagement among practitioners and beneficiaries?
- What might be the "drivers" of development managers' actions?
- How might these drivers shape development managers' rapport with the other?
- What might the risks and advantages be in creating a subjective engagement among practitioners and beneficiaries?
- What might be the role of empathy in establishing "reciprocities" (Chambers, 2017, p. 152)?
- What are the ethical implications in establishing reciprocities through empathy?
- To what extent development managers' knowledge can be shaped and shifted by the encounter with another "significant human being" (Yamamoto, 1988)?

4. Methodology and Research Design

In this section I'll outline the methodology used to investigate the problem presented above. I'll describe the research design linked to the chosen methodology, briefly introducing the tools used for the investigation. In the final part of this section, the ethical considerations encountered in designing the methodology are discussed.

4.1 Methodology

The methodology used to investigate the identified problem has been of qualitative type, given that of key interests were "values, meanings and relationships" (OU, 2009, p. 101) framing DM. In order to fulfil especially the second objective of this research (Section1) I have opted for mixing primary data with secondary data. The first aimed at finding out development managers' hows and whys (Woodhouse, 2007). The latter aimed at establishing links between theory and described practices (Mukherjee and Wuyts, 2007), trying to develop an appreciation of the role played by subjective relationships in DM, hence "for a new academic understanding of a problem" (OU, 2009, p. 125). My investigation, by bringing together and cross referencing primary and secondary data, tried to show interconnections between theory and practice around the problem definition (OU, 2009).

The NGO's director, with whom I first shared the ideas underpinning my research, suggested to work with three people (him included) that could provide useful insights for my research (OU, 2009). I considered these people as "key informants" (Woodhouse, 2007, p. 165): those "who are not necessarily representative of a population in any sense, but are chosen simply for their knowledge" (Woodhouse, 2007, p. 165) and wide experience. The selection of secondary literature was developed through a tool illustrated in the following part of this section.

4.2 Research design and tools

Semi-structured interviews were chosen as the main tool to interrogate the "key informants" (Woddhouse, 2007, p. 165). The research questions framing the overall project guided the

creation of the questionnaire used in primary data collection (Appendix 1). Semi-structured interviews were chosen as a tool able to provide a focus on the opportunistic stance of gathering data from my "informants" (OU, 2009) and a space for the interviewees to express their *hows* and *whys* (Woodhouse, 2007). Even if some of the development managers and volunteers spoke English, I have translated the questions in Italian so that they could be sure about the questions asked, wouldn't waste time translating and I wouldn't have to present myself with a linguistic power over them (Lukes, 2005).

Secondary data was collected only after the semi-structured interviews were undertaken. Through a careful study of the answers provided by the informants, key words and key concepts were selected (Barrientos, 2007) to develop the final selection of secondary sources.

A grid of the secondary sources is reproduced in <u>Appendix 2</u>. It is divided by author, discipline and area of interest (related to the findings emerged in primary data collection), to demonstrate the variety of fields (DM, international relations, social science, education, psychology and theology) from which it was derived and, hence, to show its validity in terms of triangulation (OU, 2009; Carter et al., 2014).

4.3 Data collection

I met my informants prior to undertaking semi-structured interviews, carrying out informal conversations regarding the nature of my project and hoping to create a collaborative rapport (Woodhouse, 2007). I have then run semi- structured interviews on the 13th and on the 20th of August. All interviews lasted between 90 and 120 minutes. Dates, time and location of the meetings were chosen by my informants (OU, 2009). Before undertaking the interviews all informants sign a confidentiality form having asked for their names and the identity of their organisation to be protected. I have recorded, prior to asking permission, all interviews. I then transcribed the material collected, including the notes taken during the interviews, and translated it in to English. Two informants asked to undertake the interview together, while one decided to attend it by himself.

I made a final selection of the secondary data (representing theory) that could be linked with primary data (representing practice), using documents I had already collected and accessing new

ones. I then selected those resources that could bring further light on to issues emerged in the semi-structured interviews with the aim of creating bridges between theory and practice (Mukherjee and Wuyts, 2007).

4.4 Ethical considerations

The above methodology was the outcome of some deep "ethical questioning" (Abbott in OU, 2015), which embraced mainly my role as investigator and the concept of validity (OU, 2009). In the creation of the methodology, I have used an action-research process (McNiff, n.d.) as a way to find a balance between effectiveness and personal integrity (Chataway and Thomas, 2007).

My living contradictions

Of key importance in this process was the concept of "living contradiction", borrowed from Living Theory discipline. It was the guiding principle in defining the terms of my investigation:

Individuals often experience themselves as living contradictions in the sense that the 'I' in the question (...) holds together the experience of wanting to live certain values with the experience that the values are being denied in practice. The tensions in experiencing oneself as a living contradiction can stimulate the imagination to create possible ways forward into actions that can help to realize the values more fully.

(Whitehead, 2012, p. 2)

In designing the methodology and carrying out the investigation my theoretical *I*, the one that through propositional forms of understanding formulated the problem definition, had to become a "relational *I*" (Whitehead, 2015, p. 248) engaged with *others*, researching *the necessity of being moved* in practice. My personal values "affected what was possible to achieve" (Mowles, 2010b, p. 758). Exploring how to resolve and overcome my living contradictions (Cunningham and Laidlaw, 2009), enhanced my creativity and imagination (Whitehead, 2012). I had to challenge my starting assumptions on how to carry out my research, I had to negotiate the need for efficiency with a feeling of integrity (Chataway and Thomas, 2007).

I originally planned to interview both practitioners working for NGO X and the people assisted by the organisation. After having talked with an NGO X's volunteer, I soon came to the conclusion that this wasn't a viable solution: "the only precious thing they (street people and migrants) truly have are their personal stories and their feelings, hence those are holy to them" (Giulia Carozzi, 2018).

For the sake of gathering data, by asking about their lives, I would have invaded their "holy territories" (Carozzi, 2018). I wouldn't have respected "the sacredness of life in the other" (Satir, 2013, p. 25); I would have been investigating led "by the calculus of utility" (Gulrajani, 2010, p. 140).

I then considered using documents from the people assisted by the organisation, as data. Those documents (cards), that an NGO's practitioner offered me for scrutiny, could have been an opportunity to bring in my research unfiltered words and gestures to illuminate the power of subjective engagement (Abbott, 2007) in DM. However, in order to justify the presence of these cards, I would have needed ample space to frame them as "revealing pictures" (Pinder, 2015c); the word limit available for the final report would have severely constrained this. Presenting the cards without giving space to the context in which they were exchanged, without considering the feelings that accompanied them, would have been, I felt, disrespectful to the sacredness of the *others'* lives (Satir, 2013). Bringing in the final report these "decontextualized" documents, would have compromised my personal integrity (Thomas and Chataway, 2007). I realised that I was running the risk of wishing to bring an objective proof of subjective engagement among human beings in my research. But such proof, without contextual, highly subjective, information, would have proven totally meaningless, hence, ineffective (Thomas and Chataway, 2007) and moreover an ethically difficult decision to justify to myself. Neither the cards, therefore, were included.

Principled investigation and validity

By having considered central what Quarles Van Ufford and Giri (2003) define as the *moral dimension* of the enquiry, represented here by my personal responsibility through the acknowledgement of my own *I*, the three other dimensions of a principled investigation were covered too (Quarles Van Ufford and Giri, 2003). I considered *relationships* (Quarles Van Ufford

and Giri, 2003) as the core theme of this research and I have tried to find out of what the relationships at the base of the NGO X's practice were made of.

By reflecting on the issues emerging within the design of the methodology I have engaged in a personal exploration (Chambers, 2014, p. 130), *learning about myself* (Quarles Van Ufford and Giri, 2003) especially through the use of living-contradictions (Whitehead, 2012; Cunningham and Laidlaw, 2009; Whitehead 1989). Finally, even if this investigation is small in scale, I have tried to consider it as contributing to the idea of seeing development as a matter of *shared responsibility* (Quarles Van Ufford and Giri, 2003). I hope that by having defined clearly my *I*, as a "relational *I*" (Whitehead, 2015, p. 248), the readers might feel comfortable enough to become the *you* in a dialogue (Buber in Yaron, 1993), extending beyond this report, towards "shared human possibilities" (Van Offord and Giri, 2003, p. 254).

Overall by having clarified my personal lens, my *I*, as the parameter for an ethical and moral investigation, I've also tried to use my *I* as the maker of this research contextual validity. In order to avoid living contradictions (Whitehead, 2012), the values of respect, love and equality led my research.

I had to consider how my biases were strongly influencing my desire to give more space to one interviewee over the others (Woodhouse, 2007). Having acknowledged that, I decided to mitigate my personal inclinations (Woodhouse, 2007) in favour of perhaps a more fragmented, but broader, data analysis. My values shaped my biases but I tried not to let my biases contaminating the values over which this research was built on: above all the one of acknowledging the other as significant (Yamamoto, 1988). The words, documents, pictures which haven't been taken in consideration were left out as a way of deeply respecting the "holy territories of others" (Carozzi, 2018): a proof of being moved by the *others'* stories. My *I* was the contextual validity of this research and as Gadamer (1975, p. 272) writes: "the important thing is to be aware of one's own bias, so that the text can present itself in all its otherness and thus assert its own truth against one's own fore-meanings".

The explicit and "responsible" (Gulrajani, 2010, p. 145) use of my *I*, has given me an opportunity to ethically question and feel the problem investigated. I cannot tell if the use of the generic third person would have contributed to a greater "effectiveness" in this project, but I can say that it would have severely challenged my personal integrity (Chataway and Thomas, 2007).

5. Analysis and findings

In this section I will first briefly introduce my key informants (Woodhouse, 2007) and then consider the reliability of the data. The main part of this section is dedicated to answer the research questions, analysing primary and secondary data merged together.

5.1 Key informants

A code was used to represent each informant in order to protect their anonymity (Woodhouse, 2007): I1, I2, I3. I'm here briefly introducing these three practitioners so that the readers can follow the comments made by each informant and relate those to each practitioner's identity.

I1 is a practitioner that has been volunteering for the NGO for over ten years working at the listening centre and at the canteen.

12 is the head of the NGO; he started volunteering in the organisation fifteen years ago.

13 started volunteering fifteen years ago for the NGO; she now works in the listening centre and she has a coordinating role.

5.2 Reliability

Having used qualitative data emerged from semi-structured interviews, and then merged with secondary sources, the issue of reliability is ought to be discussed (OU, 2009). A possible issue concerning the unreliability of the findings regarded potential misunderstanding of the questions and answers given (OU, 2009). This aspect was mitigated by the fact that the questions asked during semi-structured interviews were interlinked and "a similar or related question occur after a suitable amount of time" (OU, 2009, p. 110).

The issue of bias in semi-structured interviews (OU, 2009) has been discussed in the previous section, however, it still remains to be addressed how such a small sample could be considered reliable (OU, 2009). Given the amount of time available for this project a bigger sample (to be

merged with secondary sources) would have been extremely difficult to manage (OU, 2009). What I intended to gain from the interviews was "not a study of what development managers do, but of their own reflections on what they do (Abbot, et al., 2007, p. 191). This has been possible because a rapport with my informants was established prior to the interviews (Mayoux and Johnson, 2007). Meeting with the informants, talking in different occasions about their visions, interviewing them, and finally merging primary "reflections" with secondary sources in a coherent manner, was possible because the size of the sampling was of a manageable dimension (Chenail et al., 2011).

5.3 Analysis of the findings

 In which ways/how is it possible to create a subjective engagement among practitioners and beneficiaries?

All the informants recognised that the provision of a welcoming space for interaction was fundamental in the establishment of a rapport with the people they worked for (Carozzi, 2018). Such interaction, as underlined in all interviews, can genuinely happen if the *other* is recognised as significant, therefore valued (Yamamoto, 1988). This recognition, according to I1, "can be created by looking straight into the *other's* eyes" (Carozzi, 2018), building a bridge among two human beings (Laidlaw, 2018) recognising that "in the beginning is relation" (Buber, in Yaron, 1993, p. 1). In that shared gaze (Carozzi, 2018), there is an opportunity to "reduce the physical and psychological space between developers and those for whom development is sought" (Gulrajani, 2010, p. 143), to originate a relationship that opens up possibilities (Buber in Yaron, 1993) towards the generation of shared reciprocities (Chambers, 2017).

For I3 the listening centre was the best place to create an opportunity for the establishment of a reciprocity based on and understanding of people's "whys":

They tell us whatever they feel/want. (...) They explain their whys... We must guarantee them a warm reception, we must welcome them. We must listen to them because none listen to them. They do not talk with anyone.

(Carozzi, 2018)

Here it's represented a willingness to consider DM as a field of relationships (Quarles Van Ufford and Giri, 2003, p. 253) aimed at satisfying the *others'* desire "to be known, understood and respected" (Yamamoto, 1988, p. 184). Root of such a vision is a moral *must:* the *must* of personal responsibility that "brings the self and the other together" (Quarles Van Ufford and Giri, 2003, p. 253) through a relationship based on a welcoming listening.

I2 (Carozzi, 2018) said: "we believe in listening because through it you walk hand in hand with these people, trying to develop new goals together". The rapport created is built on an appreciation of *the other* in the contextual present but is also orientated towards the future (Yamamoto, 1988). Giving to those in need a chocolate bar, a safe place to meet, offering them a gentle gaze, listening to their *whys* (Carozzi, 2018), might be the first loving steps towards cure (Laidlaw, 2018), towards *good change* (Chambers, 2005).

What might be the "drivers" of development managers' actions?

All the informants recognised the importance of their personal "drivers" as guiding the creation of rapports with the people assisted (Carozzi, 2018). It seemed that their practice was shaped by these drivers, whether related to personal upbringing or to religious beliefs (Carozzi, 2018). In either case, their answers demonstrated how values and personal experiences influence the way in which development managers approach their work and see the world (Chambers, 2017) and how their understanding of development issues relates to such drivers (Abbott, 2007).

I1, underlined how his drivers were intrinsically part of his being: "you need to see how I am made, who I am: what is my education, my style of life, believing or not believing" (Carozzi, 2018). Personal experiences, upbringing and religious beliefs, were defined as crucial in giving a meaning to the interviewees' practice and were connected to their identities. All the respondents seemed fully aware of what Chambers defines as "the blind spot of ourselves" (2017, p. 49); they acknowledged that "cultures, upbringing, education, professional training and life experiences" (Chambers, 2017, p. 49) shaped their practices. They saw their personal drivers as enablers of their practice in the first instance (Cunningham and Laidlaw, 2009): all the respondents affirmed that whoever was in need, was going to be assisted by them. However, they also acknowledged that they often "took sides" (Becker, 1967).

• How might these drivers shape development managers' rapport with the other?

Overall the three interviewees recognised the political nature of their actions originated by their personal drivers.

The fragility of a person is what makes me approaching him/her. He (an homeless) was sitting at the canteen in total isolation from the others... The others were making fun of him. This is why I came closer to him, because he was experiencing a margination within emarginated...

(I1, in Carozzi, 2018)

I1's actions were based on a political desire (Becker, 1967) to establish relationships with the "least powerful ones" (Thomas, 1996) within a context of general powerlessness. This political desire, this bias, was rooted in I1's personal experiences and values (Carozzi, 2018). Fully acknowledged biases, here, led to action (Abbott, 2007): the establishment of a rapport with the most marginalised.

12 affirmed that "empathising more with one than with another" (Carozzi, 2018) was part of his human characteristic: in establishing relationship he recognised the "inevitability" of taking sides (Becker, 1967).

 What might be the role of empathy in establishing "reciprocities" (Chambers, 2017, p. 152)?

All the respondents affirmed that empathy was highly important in their work: a way of "connecting with the core of the humanity" (Griffiths in CEIA, n.d.). It emerged, however, that the three interviewees had different visions and "uses" of empathy in their practices.

I1 stressed how empathy enabled him to feel the thirst of the person to whom he was handing over a bottle of water (Carozzi, 2018). I1 felt that through empathy he could appreciate more the problems troubling the *other*, often feeling that the *other's* warries were very similar to his owns (Carozzi, 2018). He married a vision of empathy as a travel towards a "human community" (Jordan, 1997, p. 143), a way through which he established a "connection and an emotional joining" (Jordan, 1997, p. 141). He posed a strong emphasis on the epistemological potentials of empathy

as a way of becoming a "connected knower" (Belenky et al. in Dadds, 2008, p. 280) of *others*' thirst. He used empathy to seek emotional-contextual understanding (Segal, 2011, p. 268).

I2 (Carozzi, 2018) saw empathy as a way to fight dominant and rhetoric discourses regarding the *other* (Waldman, 2017). However, he stressed that limits should be posed to the level of emotional connection towards the *other*, recognising that, in DM, the mind needs to be listened to more than the heart (Carozzi, 2018). He saw empathy as a way of understanding the *other*, but not necessarily as a way of sharing fully the *other's* feelings (Waldman, 2017).

For I3 (Carozzi, 2018) empathy was a vehicle through which, as a woman and as a mother, she could establish reciprocities, based on shared identities, with the people she assisted (Abbott, 2007). Her conscious partiality towards the stories of young women and mothers led her actions (Abbott, 2007):

As a mother, as a woman I must imagine what would be like for me, for my son. It is impossible not to help if you try to be that woman crossing the Mediterranean with her son...

(I3, in Carozzi, 2018)

What are the ethical implications in establishing reciprocities through empathy?

The ethical implications regarding empathy emerged especially in the answers given by I1 and I2: different visions regarding power came out (Pedwell, 2016).

There are gestures that are forms of violence. (...) Power-over is when you make that person feel that you might give him/her the plate with the food or not... If you work with empathy, then you can't experience that kind of power-over... being empathic means that you are on the same personal level.

(I1, in Carozzi, 2018)

I1 recognised the risks relating to *power over* in his practice: "where mutual empathy is absent, shaming others become a means of control" (Jordan, 1997, p. 148). I1 saw in empathy a way of breaking down power imbalances among human beings; however he acknowledged fully that he occupied a privileged position: "in my life I can chose, they can't" (I1, in Carozzi, 2018). For I1 the

"privilege gap" among him and the *other* could be reduced through experiential realities (Gulrajani, 2010, p. 143) that he lived by empathising with the *other*.

A different vision was the one put forward by I2:

I mustn't abuse of my powers, but I must be authoritative... there are rules, there are ways...Of course you suffer for their stories... you must be moved by their stories but at the same time you must be lucid.

(Carozzi, 2018)

Even if I2 (Carozzi, 2018) defined empathy as fundamental in his work, he strongly reminded the importance of being authoritative. This might have been due to his specific role within the organisation. He seemed to be wanting to strike a balance between using empathy as a source of understanding (Waldman, 2017) and at the same time avoiding to be carried away by an "emotional joining" (Jordan, 1997, p. 141).

 What might the risks and advantages be in creating a subjective engagement among practitioners and beneficiaries?

All the respondents strongly affirmed that creating subjective engagements with the people they assisted had great potentials (Carozzi, 2018). This emerged in the words of I1 and I2 (I3 fully agreed with I2).

The advantages are on both sides... Meeting another person, establishing a relationship, establishing a rapport is a benefit for both people involved.

(I2, in Carozzi, 2018)

First of all...everyone has got a history, a story, a culture, a belief... I am thirsty of knowledge. It is not the curiosity for a different colour skin...that would be a "racist" curiosity! I am "curious" about those who live on the streets. It is incredibly enriching knowing more about others.

(I1, in Carozzi, 2018)

Informants firmly recognised that the advantages of establishing a relationships with those they assisted were of benefit not only to the people helped but to themselves in the first instance (Abbott, 2007). The curiosity mentioned by I1, was a vehicle towards valuing the life and the story of *the other*. He became a traveller of a journey towards cultural humility (Gallardo, 2014), towards an appreciation of a sensed DM practice (Abbott, in OU, 2015), seen as an exchange of experiential realities in a field of relationships (Quarles Van Ufford and Giri, 2003). It's curiosity was the spring towards "opening our mind and heart to absorbing their reality in to our own understanding" (Dadds, 2007 p. 280).

• To what extent development managers' knowledge can be shaped and shifted by the encounter with another "significant human being" (Yamamoto, 1988)?

The three interviewees recognised that their engagement with the people assisted had a major impact on the way they saw the world (Carozzi, 2018). Establishing relationships through empathy was for the respondents a way to reach a deeper knowledge not only of the *others* but of themselves too (Jones and Ficklin, 2012).

The Nigerian guy offers me his world, I grow, my life grows in knowing about his village, his father, his brother... It is more than a knowledge...it is an enriching process... I feel an emotion in that exchange (...) My life is not my life with capital letter, it is the merging of many lives. By being in contact with the stories of these people I live in my life different experiences. My life expands when I imagine another life.

For I1 the exchanges happening between him and the *other* expanded his own *I* (Satir, 2013) that, thanks to empathy, reached a deeper knowledge of the *other* through the power of imagination (Gulrajani, 2010). The relationship is seen as a point where lives merge together: "there is Len, me and the relationship. In real dialogue, both speaker and listener create a liveliness together and come to a truth together" (Jordan, 1997, p. 139).

That knowledge created through such an exchange for I2 and I3 had profound impact in their way of being. Empathy "encroached the neutrality of the practitioners" (Jones and Ficklin, 2012, p. 104). It becomes a valuable source to extend knowledge towards greater human possibilities

(Chambers, 2017): change is driven by imagination, sentiment and self-reflectivity inspired by a "global moral ethic" (Gulrajiani, 2010, p. 145).

Their stories have helped me making clear comparisons... You see them on the side of the road and you wonder "what they are thinking about?"

(I3, in Carozzi, 2018)

Their stories have changed me...I get so easily board of certain environments; I can't face any more certain nonsenses. I wish to show these people that they there are not lonely... they often live in a desert of relationships. You have to fight the barrier imposed by dominant discourses. "You live on the street?", "you are a dangerous person"... We have to fight those conceptions. We have to go back to be a welcoming society.

(I2, in Carozzi, 2018)

6. Conclusions, implications, recommendations

In this final section I will draw together the conclusions related to the problem definition and then identify the limitations of this study. I'll comment on the main implications related to the findings and finally outline possible recommendations.

6.1 Conclusions

The findings, relating to the three main objectives of this project (<u>Section1</u>), demonstrated how being moved was perceived as a necessity by the three interviewees and how their visions found solid grounding in secondary sources. An analysis of the findings regarding reciprocities, values and empathy here introduces the conclusions relating to the problem definition.

The three interviewees recognised that establishing a personal rapport with the beneficiaries was the first fundamental step to bring change (Buber, in Yaron, 1993). This recognition was rooted in the visions they had of DM, which was connected to their personal belief and values, therefore underlying how values and ideas underpinning a theory are "the enabling frame for decisions and actions" (Chambers, 201, p. 161).

The idea of a practice made by objective, "individual mechanical atoms" (Gulrajani, 2010, p. 140) who "stand separately from the phenomena" analysed (Mowles, 2010a, p. 153), was overcome in the name of a practice based on share identities (Abbott, 2007), understanding and listening. Practitioners, far from being on their "advantage point" managing change (Mowles, 2010a, p. 153) were "fully present with the other" (Satir, 2013, p. 25) through embracing the *other's whys* and life stories. Empathy was the movement towards the *other*.

Empathy was the vehicle through which practitioners' values were brought alive, the central element to understand the *other* through the power of imagination (Gurajani, 2010). It emerged that empathy was the channel towards "shared human possibilities" (Quarles Van Ufford and Giri, 2003, p. 253) through which the practitioner "grows, becoming a more integrated self, more congruent and more 'whole' "(Satir, 2013, p. 25): "my life expands when I imagine another life. (...) I feel an emotion in that exchange: I'm becoming richer" (I1, in Carozzi, 2018).

By joining together these dots, it emerges that *being moved* was perceived as an ontological need and as an epistemological route by development managers. It was recognised by the informants that DM is made by people –"all of us equally together" (Chambers, 2017, p. 152) - that "act rationally and irrationally, fantasise, dream and are prone to anxiety and rebellion" (Mowles, 2010a, p. 153). When such a vision is hold then, we, as human beings, "cannot and should not, remain objective to these life stories" (Abbott in OU, 2015). Being moved, is an ontological necessity, a necessity to affirm and live the potentials of a "human development" based on explicit values as "loyalty, trust, democracy and morality" (Gulrajani, 2010, p. 141). "To act on the behalf of the poor and powerless" (Thomas, 1996, p. 108), means leaving our "advantage point" (Mowles, 2010a, p. 153), exposing our *Is*, moving towards a significant other (Yamamoto, 1988), and being moved by his/her story, feeling it, reaching those depths (Satir, 2013; Abbott, 2007) that enable a *knowing better for acting better* (Chambers, 2017).

Being moved in DM, then may be considered not only as an ontological necessity but also as an epistemological route for practitioners. This last aspect came up strongly in semi-structured interviews. Being moved, thanks to the use of empathy, by the life-stories of *others* contained potentials in the "establishment of a personal theory of knowledge" (Whitehead, 2018, p.153). Being moved was the source of a better knowing (Chambers, 2017), the result of deepening in to the others' lives, in which empathy was the source of contextual understanding (Segal, 2011).

Primary data showed that practitioners using empathy "evolve from a metaphor of a bounded self whose task is to 'master' reality, to a relational self, 'meeting' reality and growing with others" (Jordan, 1997, p. 138-9). From this *meeting*, in this experiential knowledge (Gulrajani, 2010), the relational *I* was enriched and expanded. My informants were not aware of alternative theories of management (Mowles, 2010a; Gulrajani, 2010) but they seemed to carry out alternative practices rooted (unconsciously) in contemporary radicals' discourses.

The "emotional fatigue" (Bauer, 2016) of *being moved* through empathy was outset by an enrichment brought by an imaginary immersion in to the *others*' life happening through the establishment of a reciprocity. *Being moved* meant that development managers became political, biased actors (Bauer, 2016): personal values and histories drawn them more towards certain people. Practitioners, however, were fully aware of their own biases, showing a high degree of reflexivity: a fundamental ingredient, for Chambers (2017), to take forward DM: "a conscious partiality, leads to active participation in actions" (Abbott, 2007, p. 216).

The dangers identified by Pedwell (2016) didn't seem to be present in the experiences/reflections of my informants: a vision of DM as made by "all of us equally together" (Chambers, 2017, p. 152) didn't allow it. *Being moved* means becoming emotionally connected knowers (Dadds, 2008), existing on equal terms with the *other* in the relationship created through reciprocities in which our human resources might enable the "flourishing of humanity" as "actualisation of our human potentials" (Wolbert et al., 2017, p.1).

6.2 Limitations

The above conclusions are the product of a work carried out over a short period of time; the relative small number of interviews collected tried to be outset by the intensity of responses and by the literature review supporting primary data. I am fully aware that some aspects in the interviews haven't been fully addressed: I2 especially, commented on his authoritative role and need to follow rules (Carozzi, 2018). I've only marginally touched these aspects in Section 5.3. I would have needed more time to investigate further what he meant by "authoritative", but my time was running out and he was on leave so this issue was left unexplored.

There have been interesting aspects regarding the importance of practitioners' training emerging in semi-structured interviews (Carozzi, 2018). These points have been left un-analysed as they went beyond the scope of this research.

I am conscious that the concepts of *ontology* and *epistemology* haven't been fully addressed within wider debates regarding their meanings (Bracken, 2010; SEP, 2015). However, having been those concepts a point of arrival in this research and not starting assumptions in my enquiry, they might be clarified in my future studies.

Overall, I am fully aware that this report is a convenient narrative (Pinder, 2015d), heavily shaped by my desire, rooted in my values, to call for the *necessity of being moved*. Biases, ultimately as much as they've been tried to be mitigated, have come out (Woodhouse, 2007): the selection of the quotes extrapolated from the semi-structured interviews is a telling examples of this "personal convenience" (Pinder, 2015d) that is called being biased.

6.3 Implications

A series of implications, given the findings of this project, might be found at a personal level, stakeholder level, and for the DM discipline.

On a **personal level**, the findings have triggered in me a desire to carry on my enquiry on values, empathy and reciprocities in DM. Overall it was difficult ending my investigation: the problem definition was built to "satisfy the human being in me" (Laidlaw, 2004, p. 3) and I run the risk of undertaking a never-ending research process (Selvi, 2009); a thirst of knowledge as a form of self-actualization (Selvi, 2009) was the driving force in this six months. Although I am satisfied with the problem definition, I believe that the time I had for investigating it was far too little to appreciate its growing complexities.

Overall this research process has led me to think of applying for a Ph.D in Living Theories where I would have more time available to carry out an enquiry starting from the findings of this final report. I might then be able to reflect more openly about the personal circumstances that shaped the problem definition using personal past experiences as data.

On a **stakeholder level** I hope that NGO X might benefit from reading this report. Different visions emerged during semi-structured interviews and those have been linked with relevant theory. I hope that the findings represented and joint in this report might offer an opportunity for discussing together the various points emerged, enabling further reflexivity on the role played by empathy in their daily practice. From this discussion, a more defined, perhaps even formalised, use of empathy within the organisation's policy and practice might come out.

This work might also enable further discussions within the Living Theory Research Support Group. One of the main aim of the group is to "contribute to the flourishing of the humanity" (Living Posters, n.d.) which in this report has been translated in DM terms as "shared human possibilities" (Quarles Van Ufford and Giri, 2003, p. 253). Recurring themes of the Sunday sessions are the roles of values in shaping practice, the space occupied in research by subjectivity and the use of a *relational I* in research, the role played by biases (Whitehead, 2015). These aspects came out in different parts of this report and might provide a good point for enabling further discussions and potentially further research linking DM with Living Theories (Briganti, 2015; Laidlaw, 2015).

The implications for the **DM discipline** might be of two types. This report, even in its small scale, has tried to demonstrate the role that empathy, reciprocities and values might play in contemporary radicals' DM practice (Copestake and Willimas, 2003) and how those might be linked with the *necessity of being moved*. However, empathy, especially, remains either a peripheral subject (Jones and Ficklin, 2012), or an aspect worth to be mitigated (Bauer, 2016) in DM literature. I hope that by having highlighted the potentials of empathy, values and reciprocities, a new appreciation for these aspects might rise and might lead to further in depth researches.

This report has borrowed extensively from Living Theories discipline: of particular importance were the use of "living contradictions" (Whitehead 2012; Cunningham and Laidlaw, 2009) and of the "relational I" (Whitehead, 2015). These aspects were fundamental enablers in exploring DM as a matter of "personal responsibility towards shared human possibilities" (Quarles Van Ufford and Giri, 2003, p. 253). Applying Living Theories to DM might be an interesting field to explore: so far, however, little research has been carried out merging the two disciplines together (Briganti, 2015; Laidlaw, 2015).

6.4 Recommendations

Following the findings of this project, the key recommendations for DM practitioners and DM academics are:

- Values and biases, if fully acknowledged, might be enablers of action; however, a reflective and critical analysis of such values and biases has to be always undertaken.
- Consider the role of empathy in establishing connections with others as a way to enable change following the principles outlined by Gulrajani (2010).
- Even if empathy is scarcely investigated in the DM sector, precious resources on its benefits and potentials can be found in other areas like psychology and education.
- Through a self-reflective analysis and dialogue with colleagues, always consider the power implications that might be hiding in the use of empathy.
- Do not be afraid by the emotional fatigue that being moved might cause, from that fatigue,
 shared possibilities might rise.

• Using the first singular person in DM, can be a way to affirm and recognise personal responsibilities.

References

Abbott, D. (2007) 'Doing "incorrect" research: the importance of the subjective and the personal in researching poverty', Chapter 9 in Thomas, A. and Mohan, G. (eds) *Research Skills for Policy and Development*, London, SAGE/The Open University, pp. 208–40.

Abbott, D., Brown, S., Wilson, G. (2007) 'Development Management as a reflective practice', *Journal of International Development*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 187-207 [Online]. Available at https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.libezproxy.open.ac.uk/doi/epdf/10.1002/jid.1323 (Accessed 29 September 2018).

Bauer, R. (2016) 'The Things we do: the dark side of empathy', *The World Bank*, 23 February [Blog]. Available at https://blogs.worldbank.org/publicsphere/things-we-do-dark-side-empathy (Accessed 28 September 2018).

Becker, H. (1967) 'Whose side are we on?', Social Problems, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 239–47.

Bracken, S. (2010) 'Discussing the importance of ontology and epistemology awareness in practitioner research', *Worcester Journal of Learning and Teaching*, vol. 4, pp. 1-9 [Online]. Available at https://rteworcester.wordpress.com/resources/worcester-journal-of-learning-teaching-archived-issues/#4 (Accessed 1 October 2018).

Briganti, A. (2015) 'Generating my own living theory: an interim report', *Educational Journal of living theories*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 76-99 [Online]. Available at https://ejolts.net/node/262 (Accessed 25 September 2018).

Carozzi, G. (2018) Personal Archive.

Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J. and Neville, AJ (2014) 'The use of triangulation in qualitative research', *Oncology nursing forum*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 545-7 [Online]. Available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25158659 (Accessed 28 September 2018).

CEIA, (n.d.) Exchange with Martin Griffith s [Online]. Available at http://www.centerforempathy.org/an-exchange-with-martin-griffiths/ (Accessed 29 September 2018).

Chambers, R. (2005) Ideas for development, London, Earthscan.

Chambers, R. (2014) 'Exploring for our faster future world' in Chambers, R. *Into the Unknown: Explorations in Development Practice*, Rugby, Practical Action Publishing.

Chambers, R. (2017) *Can we know better? Reflections for development,* Rugby, Practical Action Publishing [Online]. Available at

https://www.developmentbookshelf.com/doi/book/10.3362/9781780449449 (Accessed 27 September 2018).

Chataway J., Thomas, A. (2007) 'Conclusion: personal effectiveness and integrity', in Thomas, A. and Mohan, G. (eds) *Research Skills for Policy and Development*, London, SAGE/The Open University, pp. 325-335.

Chenail, R., Duffy, M., St George, S., Wulff, D. (2011) 'Facilitating coherence across qualitative research papers', *Qualitative report*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 263-275 [Online]. Available at http://go.galegroup.com.libezproxy.open.ac.uk/ps/i.do?ty=as&v=2.1&u=tou&it=Dlourl&s=RELEVA NCE&p=AONE&qt=TI~%22Facilitating+Coherence+across+Qualitative%22~~SP~263~~IU~1~~SN~1 052-0147~~VO~16&Im=DA~120110000&sw=w (Accessed 29 September 2018).

Chouinard, J.A. (2014) 'Understanding relationships in culturally complex evaluation contexts', *Evaluation*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 332–47.

Collins English Dictonary (2000) Glasgow, HarperCollins Publishers.

Copestake, J., Williams, R. (2014) 'Political economy analysis, aid effectiveness and the art of development management', *Development Policy Review*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 133-154 [Online]. Available at https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.libezproxy.open.ac.uk/doi/epdf/10.1111/dpr.12047 (Accessed 27 September2018).

Cunningham, B., Laidlaw, M. (2009) 'How we can live our values more fully in our practice by an explicit exploration of our living contradictions', *EJOLTS*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 1-25 [Online]. Available at https://ejolts.net/node/296 (Accessed 29 August 2018).

Dadds, M. (2008) 'Empathetic validity in practitioner research', Education Action Research, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 279-290 [Online]. Available at

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/09650790802011973 (Accessed 29 September, 2018).

Everitt, A. (1996) 'Developing critical evaluation', Evaluation, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 173–88.

Gadamer, H. G. (1975) Truth and Method, London, Continuum.

Gallardo, M. (2014) *Developing Cultural Humility: Embracing Privilege, Culture and Power,* Los Angeles, SAGE.

Gulrajani, N. (2010) 'New vistas for development management: examining radical-reformist possibilities and potential', *Public Administration and Development*, vol. 30, pp. 136–48.

Gulrajani, N. (2011) 'Transcending the Great Foreign Aid Debate: managerialism, radicalism and the Search for aid effectiveness', *Thrid World Quarterly*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 199-216 [Online]. Available at https://www-tandfonline-

com.libezproxy.open.ac.uk/doi/abs/10.1080/01436597.2011.560465 (Accessed 27 September 2018).

Jones, B. and Ficklin, L. (2012) 'To walk in their shoes: Recognising the expression of empathy as a research reality', *Emotion, Space and Society,* vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 103-112 [Online]. Available at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1755458610000551 (Accessed 29 August 2018).

Jordan, J. (1997) 'Relational development: therapeutic implication of empathy and shame', Chapter 7 in Jordan, J. (ed) *Women's growth in diversity*, New York, Guilford Press, pp. 138-161.

Laidlaw, M. (2004) 'A description of my logic.' [Online] Available from http://www.actionresearch.net/living/moira/mllogic.htm (Accessed 25 September 2018).

Laidlaw, M. (2015) 'How I am trying to lead the best possible life: towards a more helpful framing of my practice', *EJOLTS*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 32-75 [Online]. Available at http://ejolts.net/node/261 (Accessed 4 October 2018).

Laidlaw, M. (2018) *Moira's educational stories* [Online]. Available at http://ejolts-wiki.mattrink.co.uk/index.php/Moira%27s_Educational_Stories (Accessed 29 September 2018).

Living Posters (n.d.) *Skype Living Theory research support group* [Online]. Available at http://www.actionresearch.net/writings/posters/skypegp250518.pdf (Accessed 1 October 2018).

Lukes, S. (2005) *Power: a Radical View,* 2nd edn, Basingstoke, Palgrave Macmillan.

Mayoux, L., Johnson, H. (2007) 'Investigation as Empowerment: using Participatory Methods', Chapter 8, Thomas, A. and Mohan, G. (eds) *Research Skills for Policy and Development*, London, SAGE/The Open University, pp. 135-156.

McNiff, J. (n.d.) *Action research for professional development* [Online]. Available at https://learn1.open.ac.uk/mod/oucontent/view.php?id=15025§ion=10.2 (Accessed 27 September 2018).

Mowles, C. (2010a) 'Post-foundational development management – power, politics and complexity', *Public Administration and Development*, vol. 30, pp. 149–58.

Mowles, C. (2010b) 'Successful or not? Evidence, emergence and development management', *Development in Practice*, vol. 20, no.7, pp. 757-770.

Mukherjee, C. and Wuyts, M. (2007) 'Thinking with quantitative data' Chapter 10 in Thomas, A. and Mohan, G. (eds) *Research Skills for Policy and Development*, London, SAGE/The Open University, pp.231-53.

O'Laughlin, B. (2007) 'Interpreting institutional discourses', Chapter 5 Thomas, A. and Mohan, G. (eds) *Research Skills for Policy and Development*, London, SAGE/The Open University, pp. 135-156.

Pedwell, C. (2016) 'Decolonising Empathy: Thinking affect transnationally', *Samykuta: A Journal of Women's studies*, vol. XVI, no. 1, pp. 27-49 [Online]. Available at https://kar.kent.ac.uk/54869/3/Pedwell_Decolonising%20Empathy%20Samyukta%20Jan%202016. pdf (Accessed 30 September 2018).

Pinder, R. (2015a) 'Worth the struggle: reflections on changing development management', *T878 Week 4 Changing Development Management* [Online]. Available at https://learn2.open.ac.uk/mod/oucontent/view.php?id=1168112§ion=3 (Accessed 30 September 2018).

Pinder, R. (2015b) 'Part 1 Discovering Development Management', *T878* [Online]. Available at https://learn2.open.ac.uk/course/view.php?name=T878-17K (Accessed 30 September 2018).

Pinder, R. (2015c) 'Revealing pictures', *T878 Week 6 Challanging Cases, telling stories, revealing pictures* [Online]. Available

at https://learn2.open.ac.uk/mod/oucontent/view.php?id=1168114§ion=3 (Accessed 3 August 2018).

Pinder, R. (2015d) 'Telling stories', *T878 Week 6 Challanging Cases, telling stories, revealing pictures* [Online]. Available at

https://learn2.open.ac.uk/mod/oucontent/view.php?id=1168114§ion=2 (Accessed 30 September 2018).

Pinder, R. (2018) 'Oxfam, outrage – and the prospects for 'taking on development management', *T878 Forum*, 15 February [Blog]. Available at

https://learn2.open.ac.uk/mod/forumng/discuss.php?d=2535855 (Accessed 27 September 2018).

Polanyi, M. (1962) Personal Knowledge, London, Routledge.

Quarles Van Ufford, P. Q., Giri, A. K. (2003) A Moral Critique of Development: In Search of Global Responsibilities, London, Routledge.

Satir, V. (2013) 'The Therapist Story', Chapter 1, Baldwin, M. (ed) *The use of self in therapy,* New York, Routledge, pp. 19-27.

Segal, E. (2011) 'Social Empathy: A Model Built on Empathy, Contextual Understanding, and Social Responsibility That Promotes Social Justice', *Journal of Social Service Research*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 266-277 [Online]. Available at

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/01488376.2011.564040 (Accessed 29 September 2018).

Selvi, K. (2009) 'Lifelong Learning and Self-Actualization' in Tymieniecka, A. (ed.) *Memory in the Ontopoesis of Life,* Dordrecht, Springer, pp. 55-66 [Online]. Available at https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-90-481-2319-3_4 (Accessed 28 September 2018).

Standford Encyclopaedia of Philosophy (2005) *Epistemology* [Online], 14 December. Available at https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/epistemology/ (Accessed 1 October 2018).

The Open University (2009) *Blocks 1-4 TU874 The development management project,* Milton Keyns, The Open University.

The Open University, (2015) 'Audio2.2 Making research personal' [Audio/clip], *T878 Capacities for managing development*. Available at

https://learn2.open.ac.uk/mod/oucontent/view.php?id=1168110§ion=3.1 (Accessed 27 September 2018).

Thomas, A. (1996) 'What is development management', *Journal of International Development*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 95–110.

Thomas, A. (2007) 'Introduction' in Thomas, A. and Mohan, G. (eds) *Research Skills for Policy and Development*, London, SAGE/The Open University, pp. 1-24.

Walbert, S., De Ruyter, D., Schinkel, A. (2017) 'What kind of theory should theory on education for human flourishing be?" *British Journal of Educational Studies*, p. 1-15 [Online]. Available at

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00071005.2017.1390061 (Accessed 30 September 2018).

Waldman, M. (2017) 'Empathy in International Conflict Resolution', *CEIA* [Podcast]. 13th November. Available at http://www.centerforempathy.org/empathy-international-conflict-resolution/ (Accessed 29 September 2018).

Whitehead, J. (1989) 'Creating a living educational theory from questions of the kind, "How do I improve my practice?"', *The Cambridge Journal of Education*, 19(1), 41-52.

Whitehead, J. (2012) 'To know is not enough, or is it?', To Know is Not Enough: Action Research as the Core of Educational Research. Vancouver, 14th April 2012 [Online]. Available at http://www.actionresearch.net/writings/jack/jwaera12noffke200212.pdf (Accessed 5 August, 2018). (Accessed 28 September 2018)

Whitehead, J. (2015) 'The Practice of Helping Students to Find Their First Person Voice in Creating Living-Theories for Education', in Bradbury, H. (ed) *The SAGE Handbook of Action Research* (3d edn), London, SAGE, pp. 247-255.

Whitehead, J. (2018) Living Theory Research as a way of life, Bath, Brown Dog Books.

Woodhouse, P. (2007) 'People as informants', Chapter 7 in Thomas, A. and Mohan, G. (eds) *Research Skills for Policy and Development*, London, SAGE/The Open University, pp. 159-179.

Yamamoto, K. (1988) 'To see li grow: the meaning of mentorship', *Theory in to practice*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 183-189 [Online]. Available at https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00405848809543349?journalCode=htip20 (Accessed 30 September 2018).

Yaron, K. (1993) 'Martin Buber', *Prospects: the quarterly review of comparative education,* vol. XXIII, no. 1/2, pp. 135-146 [Online]. Available at http://vidyaonline.org/thinkers/bubere.pdf (Accessed 30 September 2018).

Appendices

Appendix 1 Questionnaire for semi-structured interviews

- How do you "choose", approach and then engage with the people you intend to help?
- What guides your actions?
- What are the advantages and limitations of building a relationship with the people you assist?
- Do you ever let emotions lead your actions?
- Do you think there is room for empathy in your approach
- Have stories of people you assisted, changed your knowledge, understanding of the other and perhaps challenged some of your assumptions
- In what ways do you think that establishing a rapport with the people you help, considering them as significant others (Yamamoto, 1988), might have helped you to affirm and "satisfy yourself as a human being" (Laidlaw, 2004, p.3)?

Appendix 2 Grid of the key authors for secondary data

Author	Discipline	Area of interest
Gulrajani (2010)	DM	Romantic development
		management
Mowles (2010)	DM	Alternative theories of
		management
Thomas (1996)	DM	Political DM
Quarles Van Ufford and Giri	DM	Personal responsibility in DM,
(2003)		DM as field of relationships
Abbott (in OU 2015; 2007)	DM	Subjective in DM
Chambers (2017, 2015, 2005)	DM	Reciprocities, change,
		individuals' values

Pedwell (2016)	DM	Power imbalances in empathy
Jones and Ficklin (2012)	DM	Empathy as a way towards
		knowledge
Becker (1967)	Social science	Taking sides
Griffiths (n.d.)	International relation	Empathy as core of humanity
Waldman (2016)	International relation	Empathy as understanding
Laidlaw (2015)	Education	Love as cure
Cunningham and Laidlaw	Education	Values as enablers of practice
(2009)		
Yamamoto (1988)	Education	Significant other; towards the
		future
Dadds (2008)	Education	Empathy: connected knowers
Jordan (1997)	Psychology	Human community
Segal (2011)	Psychology	Empathy as "we all eat"
Rogers in Mc Gregor (2016)	Psychology	Empathy as mutual growth
Buber in Yaron (1993)	Theology/Philosophy	In the beginning is relation
Gallardo (2014)	Psychology	Cultural humility
Satir (2013)	Psychology	Expansion of the I